

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY A

Journal of Chromatography A, 1000 (2003) 401-412

www.elsevier.com/locate/chroma

Review

Measurement of endogenous estrogens: analytical challenges and recent advances

Roger W. Giese*

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences in the Bouve College of Health Sciences, Barnett Institute, and Chemistry Department, Northeastern University, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Abstract

Recent developments in the analysis of endogenous estrogens (including both free and conjugated estrogens) are reviewed. Largely due to urging by some cancer researchers, new demands are now being placed on such measurements in terms of sensitivity, throughput, multi-analyte detection and accuracy. Especially high sensitivity is required for detecting estrogens in serum from postmenopausal women, children and men, where concentrations at the low pg/ml level are encountered, and one would prefer to test much less than 1 ml of serum. Aside from throughput, meeting all of these demands may be beyond the reach of immunoassay, the method that has created and continues to dominate this field. Both HPLC and GC versions of mass spectrometry are emerging that have some potential to improve the testing of physiological samples for endogenous estrogens. The following topics are covered in this review: related analyses (e.g. detection of estrogens in environmental samples such as water, where 1-l samples can be collected to provide ng amounts of estrogens); structure and metabolism of estrogens; biological actions (with an emphasis on their role in cancer); immunoassays; HPLC with electrochemical detection; GC-ECD; and various forms of mass spectrometry. © 2003 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Estrogens

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 402 |
|----|---|-----|
| 2. | Related analysis | 402 |
| 3. | Structural and metabolism of endogenous estrogens | 402 |
| 4. | Biological actions of endogenous estrogens | 403 |
| 5. | Analytical challenges | 404 |
| 6. | Recent analytical advances | 405 |
| | 6.1. Immunoassays | 405 |
| | 6.2. HPLC with electrochemical detection | 405 |
| | 6.3. Mass spectrometry | 406 |
| | 6.3.1. Electrospray mass spectrometry (ESI-MS) | 406 |
| | 6.3.2. Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry (APCI-MS) | 408 |

^{*}Tel.: +1-617-373-3227; fax: +1-617-373-8720.

E-mail address: r.giese@neu.edu (R.W. Giese).

| 6.3.3. Liquid chromatography electron capture atmospheric pressure chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry | |
|---|-----|
| (LC-EC-APCI-MS-MS) | 408 |
| 6.3.4. Liquid chromatography atmospheric pressure photoionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-APPI-MS-MS) | 408 |
| 6.3.5. Gas chromatography with electron capture detection (GC-ECD) and gas chromatography electron capture mass | |
| spectrometry (GC–EC-MS) | 409 |
| 7. Conclusion and future | 411 |
| Acknowledgements | 411 |
| References | 411 |

1. Introduction

In spite of 100 years of chromatography during which thousands of articles have been published on steroid analysis including estrogens, further advances are still needed in the analysis of endogenous estrogens in physiological samples. Largely this demand comes from concern about the role of estrogens especially in breast and ovarian cancer. More sensitive, comprehensive, faster and accurate assays of these analytes are needed.

This review will first discuss the clinical aspects of endogenous estrogens that are relevant to estrogen analysis, and then consider the potential for current and emerging methodology to address the above analytical challenges. Ongoing and recent methods for measurement of endogenous estrogens will be evaluated relative to these criteria, even though not every estrogen analysis needs to be conducted with high sensitivity or throughput.

2. Related analysis

Although this review focuses on endogenous estrogens, there is much information that can help in their analysis from studies of related analytes or of estrogens in other matrices. Recent reviews or selected articles along these lines are as follows, where A designates an article and R designates a review: steroid analysis including estrogens in physiological samples (R [1–3]); estradiol and its conjugates in meat (A [4]); estrogens in environmental (generally water) samples (A [5–11]); synthetic estrogens (A [12,13]); neuroactive steroids (R [14]); endocrine disrupting chemicals which includes natural and synthetic estrogens (R [15]); and phytoestrogens (plant products such as isoflavones and ligands which have estrogenic activity) (R [16]).

Croley et al. [6], in their work on the analysis of estrogens in the environment, compared gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry with selected ion monitoring, and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for this analysis, and discussed the advantages and disadvantages of each technique. The LC-MS-MS method was reported to be the most promising, reaching a detection limit of 5 μ g/l at $S/N \ge 10$ for spiked 1-l environmental samples, and also for a 2-ml serum sample spiked with 10 ng. Estradiol, estriol, estrone, and ethynylestradiol were tested. Mass chromatograms for these detection limits in real samples were not shown. Van Poucke and Van Peteghem [17] used liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry to detect synthetic, anabolic steroids in animal urine, reaching levels below 1 ng/ml.

3. Structural and metabolism of endogenous estrogens

We will use the term "estrogens" in this review to refer to both the free and conjugated forms (e.g. glucuronide- or sulphate-conjugates) of endogenous estrogens. The structures and metabolism of the major free estrogens, including catecholestrogens (e.g. 4HE2), are shown in Fig. 1. The structures of representative estrogen quinones, that arise from oxidation of catecholestrogens, are shown in Fig. 2. The estrogens have a complicated physiology in that their bioactivity may be beneficial (e.g. estradiol as a hormone drives the development of female sex organs), harmful (e.g. some estrogens are now classified as carcinogens; estrogen quinones form DNA adducts), or neutral (e.g. inactive estrogen metabolites en route to excretion). At least several of the estrogens and estrogen quinones are of analytical



Fig. 1. Structures and some of the metabolism of endogenous estrogens. COMT, catechol *O*-methyl transferase; CYP, cytochrome P450; E1, estrone; E2, estradiol; G, glucuronide; H, hydroxy; HSD, hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase; M, methoxy; S, sulfate; SULT, sulfotransferase; UGT, uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase. This figure was provided by Ian Blair.



Fig. 2. Structure of estradiol-3,4-quinone (R=-OH) and estrone-3,4-quinone (R==O).

interest because of incomplete knowledge concerning their exact role and associated metabolism in health and disease. Their analysis can be challenging, e.g. the concentration of estradiol in postmenopausal women is usually <20 pg/ml (<73 pmol/l), and concentrations <5 pg/ml are common [18]. Estradiol in men is <8 pg/ml, and in children <5 to 45 pg/ml [19]. One would actually prefer to analyze volumes of physiological samples much less than 1 ml.

4. Biological actions of endogenous estrogens

Estrogens are well known as stimulants of secondary sexual characteristics along with some systemic effects such as the growth and maturation of long bones. What has more recently amplified an interest in their clinical measurement is primarily a concern about their role in breast, ovarian and possibly prostate cancer. Interest in the role of estrogens in ovarian cancer intensified recently because epidemiology studies linked use of postmenopausal estrogens to this disease [20,21].

There is a close relationship between exposure to estrogens and breast cancer risk, as has been reviewed [22]. Evidence for this comes from numerous studies involving cell culture, animal and human systems. For example, 17β -estradiol and the carcinogen, benzo[a]pyrene, induce similar transformation phenotypes from human breast epithelial cells [23]. While the general importance of estrogen exposure as a risk factor for breast cancer is clear, the details are not, and more study is needed towards goals of improving prevention, early detection, and treatment of this disease.

Two types of general mechanisms are usually considered for how estrogens contribute to breast cancer. The first is that elevated levels of some of these substances increase cell proliferation, and the second is that some of the estrogens (especially the quinone metabolites) are directly or indirectly genotoxic. (A direct genotoxin is a substance that directly damages DNA; an indirect genotoxin stimulates DNA damage by other substances, as by increasing reactive oxygen species such as hydroxyl radicals.) In turn, those who study the metabolites, whether as mitogens or as DNA-damaging agents, tend to fall into two camps [24,25]. One camp considers especially the 4-hydroxy metabolites (apparently their daughter semiquinone or quinone metabolites) as most toxic, while others suspect the 16α -hydroxy products. Quinone metabolites of the estrogens form DNA adducts [26]. Since catecholestrogens are substrates for human sulfotransferases, a class of polymorphic enzymes, then individual variation in the isoforms of these enzymes might influence risk for breast cancer [27]. Those who argue against a significant genotoxic role for estrogen metabolites in breast cancer consider that the amounts of these metabolites are relatively small. Overall the field is characterized by much complexity and many contradictions both in the observations and their interpretation, aside from complete agreement that estrogen exposure is an important risk factor for breast cancer [22].

Estrogens may also play a role in prostate cancer,

although their role here is even less clear than for breast cancer. Earlier observations (prior to 1997) linking estrogens to prostate cancer have been reviewed [28], and some observations reported in this latter review are as follows: (i) serum estrone and estradiol levels are elevated in healthy young African American males, who have the highest rate of prostate cancer in the world, while middle-aged Japanese males, who have a low incidence of this disease, have low serum estradiol levels relative to age-matched Caucasians; (ii) in the stromal compartment of the aged prostate, estradiol is elevated along with estrogen receptor; and (iii) a low dose of androgen plus estrogen induces a proliferative response in the prostate glands of several mammalian species, including full-blown prostate carcinoma of the Noble rat after prolonged dosing. Indeed, estrogens alone can induce growth and differentiation of epithelial cells of the prostate [29].

More recent observations also seem to connect variations in estrogens (or at least their receptors) to prostate cancer. For example, estrogen receptor- β , which is thought to be an inhibitor of prostate growth, is frequently lost in primary human prostate cancer [30,31], while it is the predominant receptor subtype in most metastases of this disease [31].

5. Analytical challenges

Several forces are at play that are reducing the amounts of physiological samples available for clinical diagnostic testing, which in turn creates a need for more sensitive methods including those for estrogens. The first one is that the number of available tests are increasing, so only a smaller portion of the sample may be available for a given test. Second, tumors are being diagnosed earlier, making smaller tissue samples available. Third are the increasing demands being placed on clinical research studies by human subject review committees. Fourth is the increasing accumulation from epidemiology studies of precious case control samples, or very precious cohort samples, which preferably are "never" used up.

Three other, more specific challenges face the testing of endogenous estrogens. The first one is the interest in measuring several to many of them at the same time. Figs. 1 and 2 only reveal part of the diversity of estrogens: there are additional quinone metabolites, and also conjugated metabolites. Second is the large number of samples that one needs to test for potentially meaningful epidemiology studies, demanding a high throughput. Third is that the concentrations of the estrogens can be very low in physiological samples, as pointed out earlier. Thus, the estrogens are challenging analytes given the problems in some cases of small samples, estrogen multiplicity, large numbers of samples, and low concentrations.

6. Recent analytical advances

While we are mainly concerned in this review about meeting the four challenges of sensitivity, analyte diversity, throughput and accuracy for estrogen analysis, it must be appreciated that other considerations, along with the usual trade-offs in satisfying different analytical criteria simultaneously, leave room for many kinds of methods to contribute to estrogen analysis. For example, some clinical applications may only require the measurement of a single estrogen, high throughput is not always essential, and cost is always important. Thus, every valid analytical method for estrogens deserves both some encouragement and some criticism. Nevertheless, the four challenges that we have highlighted for estrogen analysis remain as the primary focus of this review. and our discussion of the analytical methodology for measuring estrogens will proceed accordingly.

6.1. Immunoassays

Immunoassays, such as radioimmunoassay [32], first must be praised for their important and ongoing contribution to estrogen analysis, contributing thereby to our understanding of estrogen biochemistry and physiology. These assays readily provide a high throughput, but the challenges of assay accuracy and estrogen diversity are severe, and, when it comes to some estrogen testing, every assay can be criticized for its limited sensitivity. Two general classes of immunoassays for estrogens are those that subject the initial sample to extraction or chromatography before quantitation and those that do not. Historically, immunoassays for estrogens and other steroids were preceded by tedious bioassays, and engineered versions of estrogen bioassays (e.g. use of recombinant estradiol receptor) are of ongoing interest.

In a study of laboratory reproducibility between four well-established endocrine laboratories in the United States, the laboratory error for the measurement of estrogen and estradiol in plasma samples of postmenopausal women by radioimmunoassay was often large (>25%), and no single laboratory was found that could measure all of the seven steroid hormones of interest in this study acceptably [33]. Ziegler and coworkers [34] observed a correlation of only 0.6 for the measurement of 2-hydroxyestrone in urine samples from postmenopausal women by enzyme immunoassay and mass spectrometry, and the correlation was only ≥ 0.9 even for samples from premenopausal women where levels are higher. Currently 0.4 ml or more of plasma is needed to test just one postmenopausal estrogen by immunoassay in general. Recently an ultrasensitive non-extraction chemiluminescent assay was reported for estradiol in which the calibration curve reached 0.48 pg/ml (1.8 pmol/l) [18]. This enables duplicate or triplicate aliquots of a 0.4-ml plasma sample to be tested (as usual) even when a low (less than 20-pg/ml) concentration of estradiol is present. Comparisons continue to be made between immunoassay and mass spectrometry for conventional estrogen analysis [35,36].

While immunoassays may continue to dominate the field of estrogen analysis for quite some time, their shortcomings, especially for a class of structurally similar, trace analytes such as the endogenous estrogens, spur on efforts to create a replacement method. Ideally sample volumes much less than 1 ml could be analyzed for multiple estrogens, including the ones at a very low concentration.

6.2. HPLC with electrochemical detection

This technique utilizes a relatively inexpensive detector but has provided only moderate sensitivity to date for estrogens, and does not utilize stable isotope internal standards to control accuracy. Nakagomi and Suzuki [37] detected 1-15 ng of catechol estrogens and their *N*-acetylcysteine conjugates with this method in urine (0.75–7.5 ml) of rats

and hamsters after these animals were treated with estradiol or 4-hydroxyestradiol. The chromatograms showed a considerable background response and the accuracy of the method was not established. Devanesan et al. [38] detected catechol estrogens in hamsters (1-g tissue samples) treated with 4-hydroxyestradiol by HPLC–electrochemical detection (and also by HPLC–MS). Detection limits by neither technique were evaluated, but HPLC–electrochemical detect 1 pmol (~300 pg) of estrogen injected on-column. Yamada and coworkers detected estradiol in a 100- μ l sample of rat plasma that contained 1 ng of spiked-in estradiol [39].

6.3. Mass spectrometry

Various forms of mass spectrometry (MS) need to be considered for estrogen analysis, since MS is a family of techniques. High accuracy is a well known attribute of MS because it is a very specific technique, and because stable isotope internal standards can be used. Nevertheless, MS is not always accurate even when such standards are employed [40]. The high specificity overall in an MS-based method is achieved in one of three ways: (i) include a chromatographic, electrophoretic, immunoextraction or another resolving technique prior to MS detection; (ii) use a high resolution form of MS such as a dual-sector, time-of-flight or ion cyclotron resonance instrument; or (iii) rely on one of several forms of tandem MS. These high specificity options can be combined, and may need to be, for ultrasensitive estrogen detection. Overall, as we will shortly see, MS shows some promise but has yet to meet the current challenges of some clinical estrogen testing. Recently advances in mass spectrometry for the measurement of estrogens and other endocrine disrupting compounds in aquatic environmental samples have been reviewed [15]. Trialkylsilyl derivatization of estrogens was studied recently, enabling the detection of 5-10 ng of spiked estrogens in 1-1 of water by GC-electron impact-ion trap MS [41].

6.3.1. Electrospray mass spectrometry (ESI-MS)

For estrogen analysis according to the criteria of this review, ESI-MS encounters three general problems. The first one, which is a major shortcoming for trace ESI-MS in general, is that response is often analyte-dependent (see below). The second problem is related to the first: the conditions in the overall system for highest sensitivity of each analyte may be different. However, this problem can be minimized by instantly changing some of the conditions during the analysis. Third, response can be very dependent on analyte purity (e.g. as an HPLC peak), which gets worse with high throughput (fast HPLC). This is due to increased matrix effects that suppress or enhance analyte signal. This general problem for ESI-MS has been studied in more detail recently for drug analysis, and it was found that atmospheric pressure chemical ionization also can have this problem [42].

Zhang and Henion [43] reported the analysis in urine of three endogenous estrogen sulfates, E_1 -3S, E_3 -3S, and E_2 -3S, along with two synthetic estrogens and a stable isotope internal standard, by LC–ESI-MS–MS. The structures of the compounds are shown in Fig. 3. In spite of the structural similarity of these analytes including a permanent charge, which would seem to make them ideal for detection by ESI-MS–MS, their trace analysis turned out to be very challenging, especially when under-



Fig. 3. Structures and masses of some estrogen sulfates. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [43].

taken in a high throughput mode as was done here. Several trade-offs in conditions were required, for example: (i) optimum reversed-phase solid-phase extraction conditions giving high recovery were different for polar E₃-3S versus less polar E₂-3S and E_1 -3S; (ii) ammonium acetate in the reversed-phase HPLC mobile phase was necessary for analyte retention but lowered MS sensitivity; (iii) the best pH for HPLC peak shapes (5.4) was different from the best pH (5.8) for MS sensitivity; and (iv) use of acetonitrile rather than methanol in the mobile phase greatly improved the resolution of E_1 -3S and E_2 -3S, but drastically reduced sensitivity. This latter tradeoff was problematic due to the similar precursor ion/product ion transitions for E_2 -3S (m/z 351/271) versus E_1 -3S (m/z 349/269), creating an opportunity for signal spillover.

Further, superimposed on these trade-offs were the following difficulties: (i) some polypropylene tips used for sample preparation yielded an ion that interfered due to tailing with the ion from E_2 -3,17S; and (ii) fine tuning of the source declustering potential was necessary for E2-3,17S due to the structural fragility of this compound. Different LC-MS-MS tuning parameters for the ionization and collision-induced dissociation stages were employed for each analyte except E_2 -3S and E_1 -3S, which essentially co-eluted from the HPLC column in the methanolic mobile phase. A robotic sample preparation scheme was set up involving sequential use of 96-well liquid-liquid extraction and solid-phase extraction plates for high throughput. Time of evaporation after solid-phase extraction (SPE) was minimized by using SPE extraction discs which could be eluted with a small solvent volume since the discs incorporated a small mass of extraction particles in a thin bed volume. The method achieved the detection of 20 pg of the estrogen sulfates in a 100-µl volume of urine, and enabled detection of these compounds even in a non-gravid urine sample, as demonstrated by the data shown in Fig. 4. An impressive throughput equivalent to 192 samples per day was reported.

Xu et al. [44] recently reported the detection of 2and 4-hydroxyestrones in human urine by derivatization–LC–ESI-ion trap-MS. The lower limit of quantitation (1 ng per 10-ml urine sample) was sufficient to reach the levels of these analytes in urine from postmenopausal women. The on-column



Fig. 4. Selected reaction monitoring LC–MS chromatograms for an extract of non-gravid female human urine. Column, C_{18} Betasil (2 mm×100 mm, i.d. 5 µm); mobile phase, 50:50 methanol/5 m*M* ammonium acetate, pH 5.4; flow rate, 200 µl/min. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [43].

detection limit for derivatized standards was 50 pg $(S/N \ge 15)$. In this procedure, hydrazone derivatives of the estrones (which possess a ketone group) were formed by reaction with toluensulfonhydrazide. This enhanced the sensitivity, at least in part because these derivatives could be eluted from the LC column at a higher percentage of methanol. The authors also attributed the improved sensitivity to the ease with which the derivatives formed stable, protonated molecules in the electrospray process, which were used for quantitation (with inclusion of stable isotope internal standards). Interestingly, higher resolution was observed by reversed-phase HPLC for the derivatives rather than the starting estrones. One can speculate that masking the polar carbonyl group as a non-polar hydrazone then directed the polar selectivity to the dihydroxyaryl moiety where their structures differed. This method has little scope for general estrogen analysis since it is directed only towards estrones.

Although only a single, non-endogenous estrogen, ethinylestradiol, was detected using derivatization– ESI-MS–MS by Anari et al. [12], remarkable sensitivity was reported. In this procedure, as little as 250 fg of ethinylestradiol in 50-µl of plasma was detected at a S/N>100, even with injection of only 10-µl from a final sample volume of >100 µl into the instrument (a 200-µl sample of 50% acetone was evaporated at 60 °C for ~3 min prior to injection). For this measurement the sensitivity of this compound was enhanced by derivatizing it with dansyl chloride as part of sample preparation. The authors commented that even a lower detection limit might be possible if carryover in the HPLC could be overcome. While the HPLC separation and the parent ion selection in the triple quadrupole mass spectrometer contributed specificity, a daughter ion characteristic of the dansyl group rather than the estrogen was used for quantitation.

Limitations of current assays for non-estrogenic steroids by ESI-MS are also informative. Ma and Kim [45] evaluated liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry for the detection of a variety of nonestrogenic steroids as standards in an effort to establish a method that would overcome the inaccuracy of immunoassays. Unfortunately, detection limits for steroids (non-derivatized) varied from 5 pg to several ng by ESI-MS. Liu et al. [46] resorted to conversion of oxosteroids to oximes in order to improve their detection by ESI-MS, and reported ~20-fold improvement for three of them. With nanospray, detection limits for oxime standards of progesterone, pregnenolone and dehydroepiandrosterone were 2.5, 5 and 25 pg/µl. However, the amounts actually derivatized were 10 µg, and no real samples were tested.

6.3.2. Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry (APCI-MS)

Conventional APCI-MS apparently faces the same limitations that have been encountered by ESI-MS for estrogen analysis. This is implied from the study of non-estrogenic steroids by Ma and Kim [45] already discussed above, that explored APCI-MS along with ESI-MS. The detection limits for standards by LC–APCI-MS in this study varied from 50 pg to 8 ng. Fredline et al. [47] detected as little as 124 pg/ml of aldosterone in 2 ml of serum using HPLC–APCI-MS. However, aside from the internal standard, only a single steroid was detected, and this steroid was a favorable analyte in terms of its response.

6.3.3. Liquid chromatography electron capture atmospheric pressure chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC–EC–APCI-MS–MS)

Blair and coworkers [48] recently introduced a new form of electron capture mass spectrometry in which the low energy electrons for capture are produced in an APCI source by using nitrogen as the sheath gas. A conventional APCI source can be used: the corona discharge needle initiates ionization of nitrogen leading to the production of electrons. Several estrogens including estrone (E1) and 2methoxyestrone (2-ME1) were tested as O-pentafluorobenzyl derivatives. For derivatives of these two estrogens, detection limits were evaluated for diluted standards (prepared at the 100-ng level) and found to be 740 and 170 amol (333- and 82-fg), respectively. An HPLC-triple quadrupole mass spectrometer was used, in which the parent anion (from loss of a pentafluorobenzyl radical) was subjected to collisionally induced dissociation (CID) to form a daughter anion for detection. The one formed from estrone is shown in Fig. 5. In Fig. 6 is shown the detection of the four estrogens tested, along with two stable isotope internal standards, after a 13-min reversedphase separation. As seen, different CID conditions were needed to optimize the sensitivity for each estrogen, and even slightly different CID conditions were used for the non-isotopic and isotopic forms of a given estrogen. Essentially identical detection limits were observed when the estrogen derivatives underwent a normal-phase separation prior to detection by EC-APCI-MS-MS. It will be interesting to follow the further development of this important new technique as it seeks to mature even further in terms of sensitivity, analyte diversity and throughput for estrogen analysis.

6.3.4. Liquid chromatography atmospheric pressure photoionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-APPI-MS-MS)

Recently Robb et al. [49] introduced LC–APPI-MS–MS, in which a dopant such as toluene or acetone is introduced as a vapor into basically a conventional atmospheric pressure chemical ionization source, but ionization is initiated with 10-eV photons from a krypton lamp rather than by corona discharge. Analytes are ionized secondarily via direct or indirect interactions with the cation radicals



Fig. 5. (A) LC-EC-APCI-MS chromatogram of 10 pg of derivatized estrone on column with a retention time of 8.73 min. (B) Product ion spectra from CID of $[M-PFB]^-$ ion m/z 269 at a collision energy of 44 eV. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [48].

formed by primary photoionization of the dopant. Depending on the analyte, $(M+H)^+$, $(M-H)^-$, M^+ , or a subsequent fragment ion may predominate for detection. Alvary [50] subsequently used the technique with toluene as the dopant to detect 200 pg of standard ethynyl estradiol injected on-column and reported an extrapolated detection limit from this analysis of 1 pg under reversed-phase LC conditions. Three, non-estrogenic steroids were also tested, giving responses which ranged from 0.08 to 5.7 relative to that of ethynyl estradiol under these conditions. Relative to LC-APCI-MS-MS, the response for ethynyl estradiol was 8.1 times higher by LC-APPI-MS-MS. Similar detection limits were observed after a normal-phase separation, but in this case the dopant was not needed.

6.3.5. Gas chromatography with electron capture detection (GC-ECD) and gas chromatography electron capture mass spectrometry (GC-EC-MS)

With derivatization, non-conjugated estrogens fall



Fig. 6. Reversed-phase separation of PFB derivatives of estradiol (50 pg) and its metabolites (50 pg of each) by LC-EC-APCI-SRM-MS. (a) 16R-hydroxyestrone-PFB, retention time 9.42 min, monitoring the transition m/z 285 to 145 at a collision energy of 45 eV; (b) 2-methoxyestrone-PFB, retention time 10.70 min, monitoring the transition m/z 299 to 284 at a collision energy of 24 eV; (c) estrone-PFB, retention time 11.84 min, monitoring the transition m/z 269 to 145 at a collision energy of 40 eV; (d) $[^{2}H_{4}]$ estrone-PFB, retention time 11.79 min, monitoring the transition m/z 273 to 147 at a collision energy of 41 eV; (e) estradiol-PFB, retention time 12.26 min, monitoring the transition m/z 271 to 183 at a collision energy of 52 eV; and (f) [²H₃]estradiol-PFB, retention time 12.23 min, monitoring the transition m/z 274 to 185 at a collision energy of 48 eV. Reprinted with permission from Ref. [48].

into the volatility range of gas chromatography. For highest sensitivity, electron capture derivatives must be prepared. One of the general advantages of GC for multi-analyte testing is high-resolution separation. For example, even the isomers of hydroxyestrone and also of hydroxyestradiol can be separated by GC [51,52]. The detection of steroids in general by GC techniques including MS was reviewed in 1999 [3].

In conventional gas chromatography electron capture mass spectrometry (GC-EC-MS), an ion source is set up to establish low energy, gas-phase, secondary electrons by bleeding in a gas such as methane at a low pressure (e.g. 1 Torr), and bombarding this gas with high energy electrons (e.g. 150 eV) emitted from a hot filament [53,54]. Recent advances in EC-MS have been reviewed [55]. Compounds with a high electron affinity in the gas phase ionize by capturing a secondary electron, yielding an anion radical, which may dissociate into separate anion and radical products. What is detected then

may be an anion radical or an anion. Gas chromatography with electron capture detection (GC–ECD) is a related technique, but electron capture takes place at atmospheric pressure (the secondary electrons are formed from the eluent GC gas; the primary electrons are provided typically by a radioactive foil such as ⁶³Ni), and what is measured is the reduction in gas phase current [56]. Thus GC–ECD is much less specific than GC–EC-MS. Estrone after derivatization with heptafluorobutyric anhydride has been measured as a standard by GC–ECD [57]. Recently the catecholestrogens 2-HE2 and 4-HE2 were determined in rat tissue at the ng level by derivatization with heptafluorobutyric anhydride followed by gas chromatography with electron capture detection [58].

Xiao and McCalley [59] observed that estradiol, estrone, 2-hydroxyestrone, ethynylestradiol, 4-hydroxyestrone and 2-hydroxyestradiol can be derivatized efficiently with pentafluorobenzoyl chloride to yield products which give characteristic molecular ions by GC–EC-MS. The detection limit for diluted standards of these derivatives was ~100 fg, and the procedural recovery for spiked urine samples (10-ml

volumes spiked at 1-5 ng/ml) was in the range of 84-101%. Corresponding trifluoroacetyl, heptafluorobutyryl, pentadecafluorooctanoyl and perfluorotolyl derivatives were also prepared and found to be inferior. The pentafluorobenzoyl derivatives apparently were superior largely because of their relatively high physicochemical stability, and relatively low volatility. Because of this latter feature, they eluted in a relatively clean region of the GC-EC-MS chromatogram. In the overall method of Xian and McCalley, human urine samples were subjected to metabolite hydrolysis with Bglucuronidase-arylsulfatase, extracted with ether, derivatized, evaporated and subjected to GC-EC-MS. The extrapolated detection limit of the method was 0.1 µg/l for a 10-ml urine sample, which corresponds to 1 ng.

GC–EC-MS detection of a pentafluorobenzyl/ pivalyl derivative of estradiol at the low fg level is shown in Fig. 7 [60]. However, the derivative was prepared at the μ g level and what was detected is a diluted standard, so much work remains to apply this technique to real samples. The corresponding deriva-



Fig. 7. Detection of electrophore-derivatized estradiol by GC-EC-MS: (a) 3.5 fg (71 amol); (b) 94 fg.

tive lacking the pivalyl group was detected at the pmol level (S/N=50) by laser-induced EC-MS [61].

Potentially, GC–EC-MS can become useful for the trace analysis of endogenous estrogens, if the challenges of derivatization at the trace level along with pre-and post-sample clean-up at this level can be overcome for real samples.

7. Conclusion and future

The measurement of endogenous estrogens in physiological samples with high sensitivity, throughput, multi-analyte detection and accuracy stands as a current challenge. Evidence and questions about the role of estrogens especially in breast, ovarian and possibly prostate cancer motivates such analytical goals. While immunoassays are used currently for clinical estrogen analysis and readily provide high throughput, there are fundamental limits to their sensitivity and accuracy for detection of multiple estrogens. It is fascinating that mass spectrometry methods now may be emerging that might become the major technique rather than immunoassay for estrogen testing in the future. However, not every estrogen in every circumstance needs to be detected according to these analytical criteria, aside from accuracy, especially if the cost of such analysis is high. We can anticipate that the future of estrogen testing will be rich in its diversity both in terms of the analytes and the kinds of methods, with special attention given to mass spectrometry techniques.

Acknowledgements

This work is dedicated to the loving memory of Jessie Grant, a wonderful ESL teacher. A donation on her behalf by her sister, Cassie Grant, to the Environmental Cancer Research Program (ECRP), is gratefully acknowledged. The work was supported by Contract 340811E3119 from the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, and the ECRP. The author thanks Ian Blair, Jack Henion, Susan Hankinson, Joachim Liehr, and Patrick Sluss for valuable discussions. Contribution number 822 from the Barnett Institute.

References

- K. Shimada, K. Mitamura, T. Higashi, J. Chromatogr. A 935 (2001) 141.
- [2] O. Nozaki, J. Chromatogr. A 935 (2001) 267.
- [3] B.G. Wolthers, G.P.B. Kraan, J. Chromatogr. A 843 (1999) 247.
- [4] D. Maume, Y. Deceuninck, K. Pouponneau, A. Paris, B. LeBizec, F. Andre, APMIS 109 (2001) 32.
- [5] X.-Y. Xiao, D.V. McCalley, J. McEvoy, J. Chromatogr. A 923 (2001) 195.
- [6] T.R. Croley, R.J. Hughes, B.G. Koening, C.D. Metcalfe, R.E. March, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 14 (2000) 1087.
- [7] S. Nakamura, T.H. Sian, S. Daishima, J. Chromatogr. A 919 (2001) 275.
- [8] P.L. Ferguson, C.R. Iden, A.E. McElroy, B.J. Brownawell, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 3890.
- [9] M.J. de Alda, D. Barcelo, J. Chromatogr. A 938 (2001) 145.
- [10] R. Jeannot, H. Sabik, E. Sauvard, T. Dagnac, K. Dohrendorf, J. Chromatogr. A 974 (2002) 143.
- [11] T.A. Ternes, H. Andersen, D. Gilberg, M. Bonerz, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 3498.
- [12] M. Anari, R. Bakhtiar, B. Zhu, S. Huskey, R.B. Franklin, D.C. Evans, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 4136.
- [13] S. Impens, K. De Wasch, M. Cornelis, H.F. De Brabander, J. Chromatogr. A 970 (2002) 235.
- [14] P. Appleblad, K. Irgum, J. Chromatogr. A 955 (2002) 151.
- [15] M. Petrovic, E. Eljarrat, M.J. Lopez de Alda, D. Barcelo, J. Chromatogr. A 974 (2002) 23.
- [16] C.-C. Wang, J.K. Prasain, S. Barnes, J. Chromatogr. B 777 (2002) 3.
- [17] C. Van Pouckem, C. Van Peteghem, J. Chromatogr. B 772 (2000) 211.
- [18] B.G. England, G.H. Parsons, R.M. Possley, D.S. McConnell, A.R. Midgley, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 1584.
- [19] J. Taieb, C.L. Benattar, A.S. Birr, A. Lindenbaum, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 583.
- [20] C. Rodriguez, A.V. Patel, E.E. Calle, E.J. Jacob, M.J. Thun, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 285 (2001) 1460.
- [21] J.V. Lacey Jr., P.J. Mink, J.H. Lubin, M.E. Sherman, R. Troisi, P. Hartge, A. Schatzkin, C. Schairer, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 288 (2002) 334.
- [22] M. Clemons, P. Goss, N. Engl. J. Med. 344 (2001) 276.
- [23] J. Russo, M.H. Lareef, Q. Tahin, Y.-F. Hu, C. Slater, X. Ao, I.H. Russo, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 80 (2002) 149.
- [24] R.E. Service, Science 279 (1998) 1631.
- [25] T.H. Lippert, H. Seeger, A.O. Mueck, Steroids 65 (2000) 357.
- [26] E.L. Cavalieri, D.E. Stack, P.D. Devanesan, R. Todorovic, I. Dwivedy, S. Higginbotham, S.L. Johansson, K.D. Patil, M.L. Gross, J.K. Gooden, R. Ramanathan, R.L. Cerny, E.G. Rogan, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 10937.

- [27] A.A. Adjei, R.M. Weinshilboum, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 292 (2002) 402.
- [28] S.-M. Ho, K.-F. Lee, K. Lane, in: R.K. Naz (Ed.), Prostate: Basic and Clinical Aspects, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1997, Chapter 4.
- [29] G. Carruba, M.D. Miceli, L. Comito, R. Farruggio, C.M.G. Sorci, G. Oliveri, R. Amodio, M. DiFalco, D. D'Amico, L.A.M. Castagnetta, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 784 (1996) 70.
- [30] L.G. Horvath, S.M. Henshall, C.-S. Lee, D.R. Head, D.I. Quinn, S. Makela, W. Delprado, D. Golovsky, P.C. Brenner, G. O'Neill, R. Kooner, P.D. Stricker, J.J. Grygiel, J.-A. Gustafsson, R.L. Sutherland, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 5331.
- [31] I. Leav, K.-M. Lau, J.Y. Adams, J.E. McNeal, M.-E. Taplin, J. Wang, H. Singh, S.-M. Ho, Am. J. Pathol. 159 (2001) 79.
- [32] T. Chard, An Introduction to Radioimmunoassay and Related Techniques, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1981.
- [33] S.E. Hankinson, J.E. Manson, S.J. London, W.C. Willett, F.E. Speizer, Biomarkers Prevention 122213 (1994) 51.
- [34] R.G. Ziegler, S.C. Rossi, T.R. Fears, H.L. Bradlow, H. Adlercreutz, D. Sepkovic, P. Kiuru, K. Wahala, J.B. Vaught, J.L. Donaldson, R.T. Falk, C.-M. Fillmore, P.K. Siiteri, R.N. Hoover, M.H. Gail, Environ. Health Perspect. 105 (1997) 607.
- [35] H. Wu, C. Ramsay, P. Ozaeta, L. Liu, H. Aboleneen, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 364.
- [36] J.F. Dorgan, T.R. Fears, R.P. McMahon, L.A. Friedman, B.H. Patterson, S.F. Greenhut, Steroids 67 (2002) 151.
- [37] M. Nakagomi, E. Suzuki, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 13 (2000) 1208.
- [38] P. Devanesan, R. Todorovic, J. Zhao, M.L. Gross, E.G. Rogan, E.L. Cavalieri, Carcinogenesis 22 (2001) 489.
- [39] H. Yamada, K. Yoshizawa, T. Hayase, J. Chromatogr. B 775 (2002) 209.
- [40] P.L. Skipper, J. Chromatogr. B 778 (2002) 375.
- [41] W.-H. Ding, C.-C. Chiang, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 17 (2003) 56.

- [42] H. Mei, Y. Hsieh, C. Nardo, X. Xu, S. Wang, K. Ng, W.A. Korfmacher, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 17 (2003) 97.
- [43] H. Zhang, J. Henion, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 3955.
- [44] X. Xu, R.G. Ziegler, D.J. Waterhouse, J.E. Saavedra, L.K. Keefer, J. Chromatogr. B 780 (2002) 315.
- [45] Y.-C. Ma, H.-Y. Kim, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 8 (1997) 1010.
- [46] S. Liu, J. Sjovall, W.J. Griffiths, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 14 (2000) 390.
- [47] V.F. Fredline, P.J. Taylor, H.M. Dodds, A.G. Johnson, Anal. Biochem. 252 (1997) 308.
- [48] G. Singh, A. Gutierrez, K. Xu, I.A. Blair, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 3007.
- [49] D.B. Robb, T.R. Covey, A.P. Bruins, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 3653.
- [50] J.-F. Alary, in: Proceedings of the 49th ASMS Conference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics, Chicago, IL, May 27–31, 2001, TPA-009.
- [51] L.A. Castagnetta, O.M. Granata, F.P. Arcuri, L.M. Polito, F. Rosati, G.P. Cartoni, Steroids 57 (1992) 437.
- [52] T. Fotsis, H. Aldercreuti, J. Steroid Biochem. 28 (1987) 203.
- [53] D.F. Hunt, F.W. Crow, Anal. Chem. 50 (1978) 1781.
- [54] S. Abel-Baky, R.W. Giese, Anal. Chem. 63 (1991) 2986.
- [55] R.W. Giese, J. Chromatogr. A 892 (2000) 329.
- [56] A. Zlatkis, C.F. Poole (Eds.), Electron Capture Theory and Practice, Journal of Chromatography Library, Vol. 20, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1981.
- [57] L.A. Dehennin, R. Scholler, Steroids 13 (1969) 739.
- [58] K.D. Pinella, B.K. Cranmer, J.D. Tessari, G.N. Cosma, D.N. Rao Veeramachaneni, J. Chromatogr. B 758 (2001) 145.
- [59] X.-Y. Xiao, D. McCalley, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 14 (2000) 1991.
- [60] R. Lu, P. Brandl, R.W. Giese, unpublished observation.
- [61] P. Wang, R.W. Giese, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 772.